2010

Jason and Melissa Miller v. Utah Department of Transportation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102(3)(j).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

ISSUE 1: Did the trial court err in ruling that certain accident history evidence was inadmissible under 23 U.S.C. § 409, even if the data was made public, was in the possession of the University of Utah and/or used for reasons unrelated to federal funding?

Standard of Review: Interpretation of a statute is a question of law reviewed for correctness. *Reese v. Tingey Construction*, 2008 UT 7, § 6, 177 P.3d 605.

Preservation: This issue was raised below in the Millers' briefing (R. 638-656, 723-729), and in the Order on Plaintiffs' Motion to Compel (R. 911-913).

ISSUE 2: Did the trial court err in allowing defendant UDOT to use the evidentiary privilege under 23 U.S.C. § 409 as both a shield (preventing plaintiff from discovering or eliciting evidence regarding accident history) and a sword (using the absence of evidence to create an inference that there was no accident history)? Included within this issue is whether the trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury that no adverse inference should be drawn from the absence of the excluded evidence.

Standard of Review: Generally, a trial court's decision to admit or exclude specific evidence is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *State v. Cruz-Meza*, 2003 UT 32, ¶ 8, 76 P.3d 1165. However, a party against whom an adverse inference might be drawn from the invocation of a privilege is entitled as a matter of right to an instruction

precluding the drawing of any such inference. Utah Rule of Evidence 507(c)(3) and Advisory Committee Note Subparagraph (c). A trial court's refusal to give a proposed jury instruction is a question of law reviewed for correctness. *Brewer v. Denver & Rio Grande Western Railroad*, 2001 UT 77, ¶ 38, 31 P.3d 557.

Preservation: This issue was raised both before and at trial in the Millers' briefing (R. 1156-1157); the Order Regarding Plaintiffs' Motion to Compel (R. 1410); Plaintiffs' Trial Memorandum Re: Prohibiting Disclosure and Use of Accident Data Pursuant to 23 U.S.C. § 409 (R. 2196-2200); Plaintiffs' Proposed Jury Instruction No. 51 (R. 2156); Pre-trial Hearing of May 10, 2010, pp. 21-24, 27-30 (Addendum 2); and at trial (R. 2708, p. 6, 8-18; R. 2712, pp. 67-68, 160).

ISSUE 3: In a situation in which every potential juror faced an inherent conflict of interest by reason of being a taxpayer and consumer of the road system managed exclusively by the defendant (UDOT), did the trial court err by allowing only limited court voir dire and denying the Millers' request for a written jury questionnaire?

Standard of Review: A trial court's management of jury voir dire is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Alcazar v. University of Utah Hospitals, et al.*, 2008 UT App 222 ¶ 9, 188 P.3d 490, 493. Parties are entitled to seek sufficient information in voir dire to intelligently use peremptory challenges. *Id.*, ¶ 10.

Preservation: This issue was raised below in the Millers' briefing (R. 1428-1449, 1871-1875); and during pre-trial hearings March 29, 2010, pp. 10-11 (Addendum 4), and May 10, 2010, pp. 8-12, 32-34 (Addendum 2).

ISSUE 4: Under the circumstances of this case, did the trial court err in refusing to give plaintiffs' proposed jury instruction that there is a statutory cap on damages and that the money would be paid from a risk management pool rather than directly by taxes or a decrease in roadway services?

Standard of Review: The trial court's refusal to give a jury instruction is a question of law reviewed for correctness. *Brewer, supra*.

Preservation: This issue was raised below in plaintiffs' proposed jury instructions nos. 49 and 55 (R. 2153 and 2537); in plaintiffs' briefing (R. 2535-2538); and during trial with exceptions (R. 2712, pp. 66-69).

ISSUE 5: Did the trial court err in denying plaintiffs' request to invoke the witness exclusionary rule as contained in Rule 615, Utah Rules of Evidence?

Standard of Review: The trial court's refusal to apply the witness exclusionary rule is reviewed for correctness. *Ostler v. Buhler*, 1999 UT 99, ¶ 5, 989 P.2d 1073.

Preservation: This issue was raised below at trial. (R. 2709, pp. 5-7.)

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES AND RULES

23 U.S.C. § 409 (pre-1995):

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, reports, surveys, schedules, lists, or data compiled for the purpose of identifying, evaluating, or planning the safety enhancement of potential accident sites, hazardous roadway conditions, or railway-highway crossings, pursuant to sections 130, 144, and 152 of this title or for the purpose of developing any highway safety construction improvement project which may be implemented

utilizing Federal-aid highway funds shall not be admitted into evidence in Federal or State court or considered for other purposes in any action for damages arising from any occurrence at a location mentioned or addressed in such reports, surveys, schedules, lists, or data.

23 U.S.C. § 409 (as amended, 1995):

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, reports, surveys, schedules, lists, or data compiled or collected for the purpose of identifying, evaluating, or planning the safety enhancement of potential accident sites, hazardous roadway conditions, or railway-highway crossings, pursuant to sections 130, 144, and 152 of this title or for the purpose of developing any highway safety construction improvement project which may be implemented utilizing Federal-aid highway funds shall not be subject to discovery or admitted into evidence in Federal or State court or considered for other purposes in any action for damages arising from any occurrence at a location mentioned or addressed in such reports, surveys, schedules, lists, or data.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the case, course of proceedings, and disposition below

This case arises out of an accident that occurred on June 26, 2004, on Interstate 15 north of the Kaysville exit in Davis County, Utah. Jackilyn Neal, a 57-year-old diabetic, lost consciousness and crossed the open median at approximately 70 mph, colliding head on with the Millers' vehicle.

The Millers filed suit against the Utah Department of Transportation ("UDOT") on September 7, 2005, alleging that UDOT was liable for failing to install median barriers in a 1,735 foot length of roadway in which the accident took place ("the gap"). (R. 1-4.) (Median barriers had been erected to the north and south of the gap. (Pl. Exh. 9).) It is undisputed that a median barrier would have prevented the accident.

During discovery, the trial court granted UDOT's motion to exclude any data or information used or compiled by UDOT regarding prior accident history in the vicinity of the accident. (R. 400-402.) The court also excluded the same accident data that was available to the public and that UDOT had provided to the University of Utah for unrelated medical research. (R. 913.)

The case was tried to a jury from May 24 to June 2, 2010. On the second day of deliberations, the jury (in a six to two vote) answered only one question on the three page special verdict form finding that UDOT was not at fault. (R. 2713, pp. 4-6.) Judgment against the Millers was entered on June 18, 2010 (Addendum 1). (R. 2649-2650.) Millers timely appealed (R. 2683), and UDOT cross appealed (R. 2685).

Statement of Facts

On June 26, 2004, Jackilyn Neal, a 57-year-old diabetic, was traveling northbound on I-15 in Davis County. Just north of the Kaysville exit, Ms. Neal lost consciousness, crossed the open median at approximately 70 mph, and collided head on with the vehicle in which Jason, his wife (Melissa) and their young daughter (Megan) were riding. (R. 2708, pp. 156, 160-161; 2710, pp. 233-236.) The Millers were severely injured, with collective past and future medical expenses exceeding \$1,000,000.00. (Pl. Exh. 33.) Ms. Neal was killed.

In 1995 and 1999, UDOT had two major construction projects in the area of the accident in which median barriers had been installed to the north and south of a 1,735-foot long stretch of roadway ("the gap"). (Def. Exhs. 4, 5.) Ms. Neal's vehicle crossed the median in the gap. (Pl. Exh. 9.)

UDOT witnesses testified at trial that UDOT had not performed any study or analysis regarding the need of a median barrier in the gap. (R. 2709, pp. 187-188.) Darin Fred Duersch, a Rule 30(b)(6) witness designated by UDOT on this issue, testified that UDOT could not explain why the gap did not have median barriers:

Q. And as part of your investigation as a 30 (b)(6) witness, you didn't find out why?

A. I was unable to find out why.

(R. 2709, pp. 67-68.)

Based on the 1995 plans and specification prepared by UDOT (which included the gap within the project (R. 2709, p. 187)), the cost of installing median barriers was approximately \$35 per foot, which means it would have cost \$60,000 to have filled in the gap. (R. 2710, pp. 26-27; Pl. Exh. 40, p. 2.) The total cost of the project was \$5.5 million. (Pl.Exh. 40, p. 3; R. 2709, pp. 185-186.)

Instead of installing barriers in the gap in 1995, UDOT installed attenuators at the end of the barriers immediately to the north and south, at the cost of \$24,000 each.¹ In the 1999 project, UDOT replaced these two attenuators at approximately the same cost. Between the two projects, UDOT paid approximately \$30,000 more for the attenuators than it would have cost to place a barrier in the gap, which if installed, would have eliminated the need for the attenuators. (R. 2710, pp. 29-30, 34.)

¹ An attenuator is a collapsible metal system installed at the end of a median barrier to mitigate the severity of an impact when a vehicle hits the end of the barrier. (R. 2710, p. 28.)

David Lee Kennison, UDOT's twenty-five year Regional One (northern Utah) Traffic Engineer whose responsibilities included determining the need for median barriers on I-15, did not explain the absence of the barrier in the gap. He also served on UDOT's hazard elimination project committee, the purpose of which was to identify safety concerns on the roadway system. Mr. Kennison testified that the committee had not met for several years before his retirement in 2002. (R. 2709, pp. 248, 255-256, 259.)

In 2003, Darin Fred Duersch replaced Mr. Kennison and, shortly thereafter, recognized a need to have median barriers installed in certain open areas on I-15 in Davis and Weber Counties, including the gap. Due to the natural delays in planning and funding, this project did not start until 2005. (R. 2709, pp. 45, 59-60, 62.)

UDOT stated at trial that when addressing a need for median barriers, it followed the guidelines of the American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials ("AASHTO"). (R. 2709, p. 251.) AASHTO identifies the following factors to be considered by traffic engineers when deciding to install median barriers: (1) the width of the median, (2) average traffic volume, (3) accident history, and (4) average traffic speed. Other factors included a cost/benefit analysis, the presence of on or off ramps, and geometry of the roadway (curves, slopes and grades). (R. 2709, pp. 251-253; R. 2710, pp. 38-51; R. 2711, pp. 236-237.)

- Width of Median: The median at the accident site was 40 feet wide. (Pl. Exh. 9.) Under the AASHTO guidelines, a median barrier was required on a freeway if the median was less than 30 feet. Between 30 and 50 feet, it was optional, subject to sound engineering judgment. (R. 2709, pp. 73-74; R. 2710, p. 45.) Beyond 50 feet, a

median barrier was not required. (R. 2710, p. 52.) UDOT's fault, therefore, turned on the remaining factors.

- Average traffic volume: UDOT's Regional One Traffic Engineer agreed that the greater the volume of traffic, the greater the need for a median barrier. (R. 2709, p. 251.) In 1995, the average traffic volume was increasing yearly and was projected by UDOT to hit AASHTO's maximum volume (80,000 vehicles per day) within a few years. The volume of large truck traffic was also unusually high at 15 percent.² This factor therefore supported the placement of median barriers. (R. 2710, pp. 38-39, 45-50; Pl. Exh. 38, 39.)

- Accident history: UDOT successfully resisted the Millers' efforts to discover or introduce evidence of the accident history in the area of the accident, claiming a federal exclusionary rule under 23 U.S.C. § 409. The jury therefore had no information about this factor, other than an inference from the absence of such evidence that there was no prior accident history. (See *infra*.)

- Average speed: Because the accident occurred on I-15, it was undisputed that the average speed was at the maximum level under AASHTO's guidelines. Mr. Kennison conceded that the higher the speed, the greater the need for a barrier. (R. 2709, p. 252.) This factor therefore weighed in favor of a median barrier. (R. 2710, pp. 41, 47-48.)

² Large trucks usually go slower and result in cars maneuvering around them. This creates a higher risk for vehicular interference and crossover accidents. (R. 2710, pp. 39-40.)

- Other factors: The cost/benefit analysis to be performed related to the cost to society from preventable injury and death in comparison to the reasonable ability of UDOT to prevent it. (R. 2709, pp. 202-203; R. 2711, pp. 236-237.) Obviously, this analysis was hindered without the accident history. The jury therefore only heard the dollar cost of installing the barriers compared with the cost of the attenuators, which weighed in favor of having barriers.

On- and off-ramps were also present in the area on both sides of the highway. These ramps, particularly the on-ramp, affected the flow of traffic as cars maneuvered to let slower traffic onto the freeway, thus increasing the risk of vehicular interference and cross-over accidents. (R. 2710, pp. 48-49.) This factor thus militated in favor of the installation of barriers. Geometry of the roadway was essentially a non-factor, as the road and median where the accident occurred was relatively flat and straight. This factor would weigh in favor of not installing barriers. (*Id.*, pp. 74-75.)

Exclusion of accident history evidence

During discovery, the Millers requested documents relating to the analysis and evaluation of barriers in the area of the accident. As part of the production, UDOT produced an internal memorandum dated April 12, 1994, which analyzed the number of accidents, accident rate, severity and other related information in the relevant area and concluded that, "Accident data indicates that both the accident rate and severity of this section are higher than the expected." (R. 235-236.)

When the Millers used the memorandum during UDOT depositions, UDOT instructed the witnesses not to answer and asserted an evidentiary privilege under 23

U.S.C. §409, a provision that protects accident data compiled (or, after 1995, “compiled or collected”) by a department of transportation as part of a federally-funded road project. UDOT moved for a protective order excluding the “inadvertently produced” memorandum and all other accident-related data (some of which the Millers obtained through a GRAMA request). (R. 176-236.) The trial court granted UDOT’s motion. (R. 400-402.)

Millers then subpoenaed the University of Utah, Intermountain Injury Control Research Center, “Crash Outcome Data Evaluation System” (hereafter “CODES”), and also subpoenaed the Utah Department of Public Safety³ to obtain crash data. Both of these entities, together with UDOT, objected to the subpoenas. (R. 377, 383, 432.)

CODES had obtained from UDOT crash data and historical accident information from 1992 through 2004. (R. 641; 675.) According to the CODES web site,

When first funded in 1992, the Utah CODES project used four 1991 population-based data bases: motor vehicle crash records, completed by police officers at the scene, collected by the Utah Department of Transportation UDOT); emergency medical services runs collected by the Department of Health, Bureau of Emergency Medical Services; emergency department and hospital discharge records....

(R. 721.) The use of this information had nothing to do with 23 U.S.C. § 152 roadway funding and the corresponding § 409 Exclusionary Rule. CODES used the data to conduct public health activities and research. (R. 417.) CODES publically published extensive reports regarding crash data for cities, counties and other categories, including

³ The Utah Department of Public Safety stored the actual accident reports which the investigating officer completed after each accident.

the actual crash rates for all of the roads in Utah. (R. 454-594; 729-748; specifically, R. 744-745 crash data and rates from 1971 – 2001.)

After months of trying to resolve the disputed issues, the parties agreed to have the court resolve the matter. (R. 786.) The trial court ruled that all of the crash data held by CODES was protected under § 409, because the primary purpose of generation of the information was for § 152 roadway funding. However, the court ordered that the Department of Public Safety produce the investigating officers' reports. (R. 911-913.) That proved futile as the 22 boxes of reports only went back to 1998, which would have been inapplicable for the 1995 and 1999 projects.⁴ (R. 1347.) All prior reports had been destroyed. (Addendum 2⁵, p. 29.)

Millers filed another motion for an *in camera* review, to challenge the additional documents which UDOT claimed were privileged. (R. 1139-1140; 1143-1302.) As part of this motion, Millers also asked the court to restrict UDOT from trying to take advantage of the § 409 Exclusionary Rule by using the absence of accident history as both a shield and sword against the Millers. (R. 1156-1157.)

The trial court agreed with UDOT that all of the documents were excluded pursuant to § 409; however, the court expressed concern that § 409 created the potential for prejudice and stated:

⁴ 1995 and 1999 are the dates in which the projects were under construction. Planning, designing and funding of the projects would have occurred a few years before.

⁵ The official transcript of the May 10, 2010 pre-trial conference does not appear to have been included within the record on appeal, though it is filed with the court below. It is anticipated that the transcript will be added to the record by motion, and is attached hereto within the Addendum.

I don't think that at trial you [UDOT] can suggest that this road is safe based upon accident history that they [plaintiffs] don't have access to.

* * *

I don't think that you [UDOT] can rely on this data that you've determined to be privileged in concluding that this stretch of highway was not dangerous....

* * *

You [UDOT] can't suggest there's no accident history.

* * *

Let's just limit it to say you cannot make any argument at the time of trial based upon accident history that hasn't been provided to them [plaintiffs]. Let's just leave it at that for now.

(R. 1403, 2197.) The court then issued the following order, "[N]either party should attempt to take advantage of the fact that the evidence was excluded and unavailable to plaintiffs". (R. 1410.)

Because UDOT continued to advance its defense that without an accident history, there would be no requirement to have a barrier, Millers addressed the issue again with the trial court in a pre-trial hearing shortly before trial. Millers explained that the experts and UDOT witnesses would be referring to AASHTO, which states that the accident history is a primary factor. As a solution, Millers proposed that the jury be told that there was a data base that may or may not contain accident histories, but that because of federal law it could not be used, and the jury should not draw any inference for or against either party. Without such an explanation, Millers argued, the jury would be left to speculate about the absence of a primary factor. The court proposed that Millers prepare a jury instruction to address this, which Millers did and gave to the court at a second pre-trial conference. (Addendum 2, pp. 21-24; R. 2707, p. 5.)

Millers filed a trial memorandum outlining the prejudice to them and the ways that UDOT could take unfair advantage. (R. 2196-2200.) On the morning of trial, Millers raised the issue again. The trial court expressed concern about the prejudice to Millers if UDOT suggested or implied that the lack of evidence meant that there was no accident history or that “the absence of accidents gives a reasonable inference of safety.” (R. 2708, pp. 6, 10-12.)

UDOT argued that the standards required an analysis of the accident history and said that it intended to cross-examine Millers’ expert about the absence of prior accidents. (*Id.*, pp. 12-13.) The trial court allowed UDOT to ask if the expert was aware of any accident history but would not allow further inquiry. *Id.* The court was disinclined to give Millers’ proposed instruction regarding § 409, but cautioned that if UDOT asked about accident history, it might give the instruction, “because we can’t leave the inference out there that the accident history has been available to both sides and there was no accident history.” If UDOT opened the door, the court would give Millers’ proposed instruction. (*Id.*, pp. 16-18.)

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