2010

Jason and Melissa Miller v. Utah Department of Transportation : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

The trial court also correctly refused to instruct the jury on the immunity act's statutory damage cap. Like evidence of insurance, the damage cap is not appropriate as part of liability instructions. And because the jury found that UDOT was not negligent, the jury never reached the damage issue. Thus, any error was harmless.

The Millers failed to preserve their challenge to the trial court's denial of the Rule 615 motion to exclude witnesses. But even if the issue were preserved for review, the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it denied the motion because one witness had already finished testifying and plaintiff Jason Miller's direct examination was complete. The Millers have not shown actual prejudice, and the trial court should be affirmed.

And finally, the cumulative error doctrine does not apply. The evidence solidly supports the verdict, and the Millers have not shown multiple errors. The trial was fundamentally fair. The Millers are not entitled to a favorable verdict.

On Cross-appeal:

If this Court finds some basis upon which to reverse the jury's verdict, this Court should correct the jury instruction on UDOT's duty. UDOT has a duty to provide a reasonably safe road for reasonable and prudent drivers. Nothing more or less. The jury was incorrectly instructed that UDOT's duty was greater. If the case is remanded, the jury should be properly instructed.

ARGUMENT AS APPELLEE

I. The trial was fair.

Perfection in a court of law is unattainable because a multitude of human factors are involved. Like all human endeavors, jury trials are rarely, if ever, conducted without at least some arguable error. But, as has often been stated, a party is entitled to only a fair trial, not a perfect one. *See, e.g. State v. Lamorie*, 610 P.2d 342, 348 (Utah 1980). Here, the Millers had a fair trial, even if the verdict was not in their favor. The Millers had a reasonable opportunity to present their contentions to the jury and have their issues decided. They are not entitled to a favorable decision.

On appeal, the Millers fail to establish that the trial court erred. Moreover, they have waived the opportunity to raise some of the issues about

which they complain. And even if they could show that the trial court did err, they have not shown that they suffered any harm; the Millers must demonstrate more than a mere possibility that the verdict would have been different. But because the jury's verdict is supported by ample evidence, there is no reasonable likelihood that any error affected the verdict. The jury's verdict should stand.

A. Section 409

1. The accident history evidence was not discoverable from UDOT or the University of Utah.

The trial court correctly ruled that federal law precluded discovery of the crash site's accident history from UDOT. Congress provides federal money to states to conduct improvement construction projects on state-maintained roads. *See, generally*, 23 U.S.C., Chapter 1, entitled "Federal-Aid Highways." A state identifies areas of need by compiling accident histories, but states would be reluctant to collect and compile accurate accident information if the information could be used against the states in personal injury actions. Accordingly, Congress remedied this concern by adopting 23 U.S.C. § 409, which makes the histories unavailable in discovery:

[R]eports, surveys, schedules, lists, or data compiled or collected for the purpose of identifying, evaluating, or planning the safety enhancement of potential accident sites, hazardous roadway conditions, or railway- highway crossings, pursuant to sections 130, 144, and 148² of this title **or for the purpose of developing any highway safety construction improvement project which may be implemented utilizing Federal-aid highway funds** shall not be subject to discovery or admitted into evidence in a Federal or State court proceeding . . .

23 U.S.C. § 409 (2005) (emphasis added) (addendum B).

Section 409 allows states to compile accurate accident information without the risk that the information might be used against them. *Pierce County v. Guillen*, 537 U.S. 129, 147 (2003) (legislation enacted to address “reluctance” to compile accident data because it “would make state and local governments easier targets for negligence actions by providing would-be plaintiffs a centralized location from which they could obtain much of the evidence necessary for such actions”); *see also Duncan v. Union Pac. R. Co.*, 790 P.2d 595, 597 (Utah App. 1990) (“To facilitate candor in administrative

² The 2005 amendment replaced “152” with “148.” At the time of the crash, section 152 applied. Section 152 is the hazard elimination program. 23 U.S.C. § 152. The 2005 Safe, Accountable, Flexible, Efficient Transportation Equity Act: A Legacy for Users (“SAFETEA-LU”) legislation replaced section 152 with the Highway Safety Improvement Program, section 148, and more than doubled the funding. §1401(a)(3)(c), 119 Stat. 1144.

evaluations of highway safety hazards, 23 U.S.C. § 409 prevents a court from receiving records of such evaluations into evidence”).

Section 409 enumerates four “purposes” for which a state may compile accident data that gives rise to this protection: i) Section 130 purposes (relating to railway-highway crossings); ii) Section 144 purposes (relating to highway bridge replacement); iii) Section 152 purposes³ (relating to “hazard elimination programs”); and iv) “the purpose of developing any highway safety construction improvement project which may be implemented utilizing Federal-aid highway funds.” 28 U.S.C. § 409. If a state compiles data for any of those four purposes, section 409 protects the data from discovery.

Congress intended section 409’s scope to be broad, and because trial courts were interpreting the statute too narrowly, Congress amended it in 1991 and 1995 and made the statute applicable to pre-trial discovery and added the phrase “or collected” after the word “compiled.” 23 U.S.C § 409; *Pierce County*, 537 U.S. at 134-135. The U.S. Supreme Court explained that the amendments made clear that section 409 protects not just the information a transportation agency generates for section 152 purposes, but also any

³ See *infra* note 2.

information that the agency collects from others and used for section 152 purposes. *Id* at 144.

Here, the Millers sought accident history between 1996-2003 along the subject area of I-15.⁴ In UDOT's hands, this information is absolutely protected by section 409.

And importantly, UDOT's sharing of the accident history information with the University of Utah's Crash Outcome Data Evaluation System (CODES) did not change that result. First, Section 152 provides for state road surveys "to identify hazardous locations, sections, and elements." 23 U.S.C. § 152 (a)(1). CODES' purposes specifically include "describ[ing] factors that contribute to the occurrence of crashes, and crash-related injuries and fatalities." R. 722G. And the contract with UDOT authorizes "use of the databases to conduct research in the areas of injury prevention and control, motor vehicle safety, motor vehicle crashes and driver behaviors, emergency medical services, trauma system evaluation, emergency services utilization." R. 722G. Highway safety and hazard elimination is clearly part

⁴ The Millers never sought accident history for time periods before 1996. R. 249-254; 356-361; 377-382; 383-388; 126-236, so they should not be heard to complain about not having accident history before then.

of that scope. And nothing in section 152 requires UDOT to conduct those safety evaluations and studies alone.

Second, the Governmental Records Access Management Act allows governmental entities to share records when the record “will be used for a purpose similar to the purpose for which the information in the record . . . was obtained” and when “use of the record . . . produces a public benefit . . .” Utah Code Ann. §§ 63G-2-206(2)(a)(ii), (iii) (West 2009). The act also provides that “a governmental entity receiving a record under this section is subject to the same restrictions on disclosure of the record as the originating entity.” *Id.* at § 63G-2-206(6)(a). In this circumstance, section 409 applies equally to the University of Utah as it does to UDOT. The trial court correctly ruled that the accident history was not discoverable from either UDOT or the University of Utah.

But even if the trial court erred, reversal is not required. This Court will not reverse the trial court’s ruling on evidentiary issues unless “it is manifest that the trial court so abused its discretion that there is a likelihood that injustice resulted.” *State v. Tarrats*, 2005 UT 50, ¶ 16, 122 P.3d 581. Here, if the trial court erred, it was harmless. The Millers did obtain accident history for the crash site. The trial court ordered DPS to provide the information. R. 1407-1411. DPS gave the Millers accident reports for 1998

forward, meaning they had crash-site accident history for five years before the crash. Moreover, the Miller's expert had that information and could have testified about it and used it to support his opinions. But the Millers chose to remain silent, and neither they nor their expert offered the accident history into evidence. They must now live with the consequences of that strategic decision.

2. The trial court correctly refused to instruct the jury about section 409.

The trial court carefully considered section 409's ramifications and correctly determined that the jury did not need to be instructed about it. Before jury selection on the first day of trial, the court set clear boundaries for UDOT regarding what UDOT could and could not argue or imply to the jury, if it did not want the Millers' proposed jury instruction about section 409 to be given:

THE COURT: Prior to [1998, the date of the accident reports] we simply don't know anything one way or the other. And so, it would be arguing off the record for UDOT to suggest that the absence of accidents prior to that time is evidence of safety, because there simply is no evidence one way or the other. We simply don't know one way or the other.

R. 2708 at p. 9-10. The Millers' counsel reiterated the Millers' concern that UDOT would invite "the jury to draw the inference that since the [Millers]

haven't come forward with more accidents than they have, therefore they don't exist." R. 2708 p. 11.

The Court understood the concern and took it seriously, stating that such an argument would be unfair as it related to a time period when there was no information, R. 2708 p. 11, "Because we can't leave the inference out there that the accident history has been available to both sides and there was no accident history." R. 2708 p. 16. The court forcefully warned UDOT at least twice that UDOT risked "opening the door to me having to give some instruction with respect to [UDOT's compilation of accident history] if you suggest in any way to the jury that there was a clean accident history prior to [1998]." R. 2708 p. 16, 17.

With that clear warning, UDOT did not argue, suggest, or imply that the crash site was safe because there was no accident history for the site prior to 1998. Accident history itself was not an unfair trial topic; only accident history prior to the time that the Millers had it. In other words, UDOT did not open the door to the Millers' proposed jury instruction by the mere mention of the words "accident history." And, the few mentions of the term

throughout the trial did not imply to the jury that the crash site had no accident history.⁵

For example, UDOT engineer Duersch testified that before a median barrier project is approved UDOT analyzes “geometries, alignment, traffic volumes, median widths, crash history, all of those things.” R. 2709 p. 117-118. And the Millers introduced UDOT engineer Kennison’s deposition testimony into evidence:

Q What about accident history, did that play a role in determining whether there should be median barriers?

A. We always looked at the accident history, but I can’t remember how that – that plugged into the criteria.

Q. You can’t remember how?

A. But I can’t remember how that plugged into the criteria.

R. 2709 p. 252-53. UDOT’s counsel read the applicable section on median barriers from the Roadside Design Guide with the Millers’ expert, Mr.

Ruzak.⁶ AASHTO created the guide, and the federal government requires the

⁵ The Millers introduced the term “accident history” at trial as well. Mr. Ruzak mistakenly testified that he obtained accident history from UDOT’s website. R. 2710 p. 34. The website has average daily traffic information, not accident history. The Millers did not correct that testimony.

⁶ The Millers did not object or request clarification from the Judge that UDOT opened the door with either this testimony or the Duersh testimony.

guide to be used on all federal highway projects. R. 2710 p. 62. The 1989 guide states that “for relatively wide medians, the probability of a vehicle crossing the median is also low. Thus, for median widths greater than 30 feet and within the optional area of the figure, a barrier may or may not be warranted, again, depending upon the cross-median accident history.” R. 2710 p. 63-64. It was not improper for UDOT to have the Millers’ expert read the guideline that he opined UDOT violated. Reading the guideline did not imply to the jury that the crash site did not have any accident history before 1998.⁷

Nor did UDOT’s counsel open the door in closing argument. Again, all that counsel did was to read the relevant provision of the Roadside Design Guide. Counsel did not argue that a lack of accident history at the crash site meant that the road was safe. The trial court was in the best position to determine whether UDOT crossed the court’s clearly delineated boundaries. *See, e.g., Donohue v. Intermtn. Health Care, Inc.*, 748 P.2d 1067, 1068 (Utah 1987); *Florez v. Schindler Elev. Corp.*, 2010 UT App. 254, ¶ 47, 240 P.3d 107. UDOT did not open the door to the section 409 instruction, and the trial court

⁷ Except for general mention about accident history, the Millers’ counsel admitted that UDOT did not talk about accident history. R. 2712 p. 68.

did not err by refusing to give it. The instruction was proper only if UDOT argued that the Millers' lack of accident history prior to 1998 established that the road was safe. Because that did not happen, there was no error.

But even if the jury should have been told why there was no accident history prior to 1998, no prejudice occurred requiring a new trial. First, as explained, the Millers could have introduced accident history from 1998 forward, but did not. Their strategic decision cannot be grounds for reversing the jury's verdict.

Second, any error is "sufficiently inconsequential" that there is no reasonable likelihood that the jury's verdict would have been different if the jury knew that federal law prevented the Millers from access to accident history for the crash site before 1998. *Price v. Armour*, 949 P.2d 1251, 1256 (Utah 1997) (harmless error standard). The evidence at trial solidly supported the jury's verdict.

The evidence established that UDOT provided a reasonably safe road for reasonably safe and prudent drivers. Sadly here, Neal was neither reasonable nor prudent. She was on notice that her blood-sugar levels were not well controlled and that her low blood sugar often altered her mental status. R. 2710 p. 236; R. 2711 p. 165. She had her drivers' license

suspended in the past for impaired driving, and was found lost and incoherent several times before the tragic crash here. R. 2711 p. 166, 245; R. 2711 p. 168-69.

In addition, trial evidence established that the median at the crash site was a relatively wide 40 feet. R. 2710 p. 65. It gave drivers a good clear zone, allowing them to regain control of their cars. R. 2709 p. 127; R. 2711 p. 213. This section of I-15 was flat and straight. R. 2709 p. 76. It did not have differences in either vertical or horizontal elevation. R. 27109 p. 76. It had the lowest average daily traffic of any section of I-15 in the area. R. 2709 p. 92. *See also* addendum C.

The testimony at trial was also that median barriers create dangers of their own because they redirect traffic back, causing vehicle and other damage. R. 2709 p. 121. Putting median barrier in an area where it is not necessary is a safety hazard. R. 2709 p. 121, 125. Indeed, according to the Millers' expert, median barrier is the last resort because barrier takes away clear zone. R. 2710 p. 68-69. And all of the testimony at trial indicated that the Roadside Design Guide did not require median barrier at the crash site. R. 2710 pp. 42, 45, 64; R. 2711 pp. 203, 207, 211-212. Even the Millers' expert admitted that the road was well-designed. R. 2710 p. 47.

The evidence solidly supports the verdict. Any error in not instructing the jury on section 409 was harmless and does not require a new trial.

B. The jury panel

1. The voir dire process was fundamentally fair and well within the court's discretion.

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